FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/28/2019 10:51 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 96901-9
COURT OF APPEALS NO.77447-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RITE AID CORPORATION and THRIFTY PAYLESS, INC., Petitioners

v.

THE CITY OF KIRKLAND, Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Delbert D. Miller, WSBA No. 1154 David E. Crowe, WSBA No. 43529 VAN KAMPEN & CROWE, PLLC 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4050 Seattle, Washington 98154-1000 206.386.7353 206.405.2825 – Facsimile ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Rite Aid Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiary, Thrifty Payless Inc., (together "Rite Aid"). Rite Aid operates a retail pharmacy in a portion of a shopping center which the City of Kirkland (the "City") seeks to condemn.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

On December 17, 2018, the appellate court affirmed an order of public use and necessity. *See* Appendix A ("App. Op."). On January 29, 2019, the appellate court denied Rite Aid's motion for reconsideration. *See* Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The manner in which the City seeks to exercise compulsory condemnation powers in this case raises significant questions of law under the Washington Constitution and involves issues of substantial interest to the public. The appellate court's opinion also "is in conflict" with two prior opinions of this Court because it misconstrues the analysis in both *Pullman v. Glover*, 73 Wn.2d 592, 594-95, 439 P.2d 975 (1968), and *Pub. Util. Dist. No 1 of Pend Oreille County v. Inland Power & Light Co.*, 64 Wn.2d 122, 126, 390 P.2d 690 (1964). The Court should accept review of the following issues pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) and (4):

1. Whether the Constitution allows condemnation of property that is

admittedly three to four times the size necessary for the public use identified in the City's ordinance and where the City fails to determine the use for the larger portion of excess property.

- 2. Whether public use for a taking must be made prior to the taking or whether the Constitution allows condemnation of excess property (land banking) for future public or private uses which are not yet identified by the City Council.
- 3. Whether a public use must be legislatively identified by ordinance rather than merely by testimony of City staff or counsel.
- 4. Whether a public use and necessity motion is a summary judgment motion that prohibits the courts from making findings on substantially controverted matters of fact without holding an evidentiary hearing.
- 5. Whether, RCW 8.12.060 requires the joinder of all tenants of the shopping center who have reciprocal rights and obligations relating to the entire shopping center.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Take Property Far Exceeds What is Needed for a Fire Station.

Several years ago the City decided to "relocate" some existing fire stations to improve response times in Kirkland.¹ Beginning in 2011 the

2

¹ See CP0469 (City Man. Dep. at 10:24-11:11). The fire stations in Kirkland include fire stations 21, 22, 24, 26, and 27. They respectively have 8,541, 9,071, 3,748, 9,795, and 8,159 of building square footage. See CP0585-89. The Rite Aid building is listed as

City considered a number of properties on which to relocate fire station number 24 ("FS24"). See, e.g., CP0092-93 (¶ 10). In 2014, the City Council was presented with seven possibilities for relocating station FS24. See CP0470 (City Man. Dep. at 19:16-20:7); CP0484-502. All seven of these properties are large enough to accommodate FS24. See CP0461 (Fire Chief Dep. at 12:3-13); CP0471 (City Man. Dep. at 22:13-24:5). These properties ranged from as little as 0.71 acres and one by far the largest site, the Rite Aid Property, consisting of 2.52 acres. See CP0490. As the Rite Aid Property was far larger than needed for a fire station, the City designed a plan for taking less than half of it (1.09 of the 2.52 acres). See CP0496. Under the City's own plans for either the proposed "full" or "partial" taking of the Rite Aid Property, removal of the building in which the Rite Aid store is located was not necessary. See CP0496-97.

In 2015, the City considered another location for relocating FS24 consisting of four adjacent single-family residences. *See* CP507-13. The City's fire station drawings for this location make clear that only three of the four single family lots were necessary to relocate FS24. *See* CP509 & CP0512; *see also* CP0462 (Fire Chief Dep. at 37:2-9) (confirming that only three lots were necessary). The three lots total only 0.70 acres.²

1.

having 25,234 building square footage on a lot of 109,671 square feet. See CP0590-91.

² See CP0595-98. The fourth lot was an additional 0.23 acres. See CP0599.

"City staff ha[d] commenced negotiations with the four property owners for the proposed [FS24] site." CP0515-16. On January 6, 2016, the City Manager recommended to the City Council that it acquire the single-family lots. *See* CP0473. And the City Council agreed to do so on January 19, 2016, by passing Ordinance 0-4512 which found that taking the single-family residences was "necessary for the public purpose of construction and operation of a fire station [FS24]." CP0523-26. The City entered into binding purchase and sale agreements with the owners of all three residences needed for the fire station.³

Having identified what its true needs were, having passed a legislative ordinance consistent with those needs, and having all the property necessary under contract, there would then have been no need for this case. However, in the spring of 2016, City staff decided that it no longer wished to use the 0.70 acres of property it already controlled for FS24. Without any indication from the City that it intended to do anything different from relocating [FS24] and building no more than the "fire station" that would require no more than the 0.70 acres already under contract, the City on May 17, 2016 passed Ordinance number 0-4519

-

³ See, e.g., CP0448-49 (Dep. City Man. Dep. at 25:14 -26:7) (acknowledging that two lots were under contract and one lot was already purchased by the City). The City estimated it could purchase this land, sufficient to meet its needs for a fire station for less than \$1.09 million. See CP0512. It appears that the City paid approximately \$558,000 for the lot it purchased. See CP0603. In comparison, the City offered nearly three times that amount, \$3.07 million, to the owner of the Rite Aid Property. See CP0541.

curiously now finding that the almost four times larger 2.52 acre Rite Aid Property was now "necessary for the [identical] public purpose of construction and operation of a fire station [FS24]." CP0531-34. Ordinance number 0-4519 says nothing about needing the land for any other additional public uses, such as a fire training facility, a parks maintenance center, or anything else.

Before initiating any action to take the Rite Aid Property, the City recognized its proposed taking would be excessive. In its Fall 2015 assessment, the City acknowledged that they could fulfill the need for a fire station by using less than half of the Rite Aid Property. *See, e.g.,* CP0496 (the "Rite Aid Partial" using only 1.09 acres). At that time, in assessing the full Rite Aid Property, the City itself acknowledged that the "Site is too large, co-development or partial sale" would be required. CP0497; *see also* CP0504-05 (on January 27, 2015, the City's capital projects team manager explained that the City's "preference is [to take] the whole site (including the building) and then <u>sell off what we don't need</u>") (emphasis added).

After Ordinance number 0-4519 was passed, the City readily admitted that the Rite Aid Property is larger than needed for relocating FS24. *See* CP0472 (City Man. Dep. at 35:4-7) ("Q. So if you're thinking about just the fire station, the site is too large? A. Just the fire station. We

don't need that much space for just the fire station."); *id.* (35:22-24) ("Q. But [the property] is bigger than you need for just the fire station. A. Yes"); CP0578-79 (Deputy City Manager explaining that "the preliminary site plans didn't take into consideration leaving the rite aid building there for *another* public use") (emphasis added); CP0464 (Fire Chief Dep. at 43:3-6) ("Q. You'll agree, though, that the site also allows for a lot of other potential uses as well beyond just the fire station. A. Yes.").

B. The City Has Not Decided On A Use for The Excess Property.

To date, every plan the City has produced shows that the City will use far less than half the Rite Aid Property for a fire station. *See*, *e.g.*, CP0496-97; CP0548; CP0552; CP0559-65; CP0622. The City readily admits that it will not use the property solely for that purpose. Since filing its petition, the City has discussed <u>but has not selected</u> any of numerous additional or alternative uses for the excess land.

In January 2017 – eight months after Ordinance 0-4519 was passed – one prominent City Council member, Toby Nixon, 4 explained that

Putting a station on the [Rite Aid] site toward the front of the lot (closer to NE 132nd St) would not preclude other uses of the rear part of the [Rite Aid Property] where the building is currently located. The [Rite Aid Property] (rear part), Goodwill, service station, and bank sites could be combined and redeveloped as a mixed-use multi-story

6

⁴ Mr. Nixon is one of three members of the public safety committee, the committee likely in charge of determining how the additional land on the Rite Aid Property will be used or disposed of. *See* CP0476-77 (City Man. Dep. at 113:6-114:5).

structure like Juanita Village. I hope this helps explain the city's current thinking on this.⁵

Other City Council members are also interested in directing alternative ways to use the "excess taking" the Rite Aid Property would provide. During the February 2017 City Council retreat, the City Council expressed a desire to be involved in determining "how to use the remainder of the [Rite Aid Property] not needed for the [fire] station." CP0570 (emphasis added.); see also CP0453-54 (Dep. City Man. Dep. at 60:21-62:20) (explaining notes were taken at the February 3, 2017 City Council retreat); id. (64:5-9) ("Q: It says 'not needed,' correct? A. 'Not needed.' So, I think – what that says is if staff has ideas about how to use the additional space, please consult the City Council."). Indeed, the Council further wished that the City would "[i]dentify the cost of alternate uses of Rite Aid site," CP0570, and was interested in keeping the site available for retail use, see id. ("Don't take away retail use (sales tax generator) unless necessary"). The Council plainly had not considered the whole parcel "necessary" for a "fire station" as stated at the time it passed Ordinance 0-4519. In fact, the City still has not decided how to use the excess land. But, selling it for private use appears to be a top option.

Indeed, since filing this action, the City has developed design

-

⁵ CP0554. "Juanita Village is a mixed-use development ... that is retail on the bottom and residential on the top, and – so some mixed use, very dense development." CP0453 (Dep. City Man. Dep. at 57:18-23).

drawings that would allow both Rite Aid and a fire station to exist on the site. *See* CP0617 & CP0622. This proposal was being considered by the City at the time the City filed its motion for an order of public use and necessity (on May 11, 2017).⁶

In Superior Court, the City's counsel argued that the whole of the Rite Aid Property was necessary for uses *related to* the "fire station." This was based on the declaration of the City Manager, dated May 11, 2017. *See* CP0089-99. This declaration says that some unspecified additional components related to the fire station would be added to the Rite Aid Property. *See* CCP0098-99 (¶28-31). But, it is undisputed that the City Council has not chosen or agreed to these additional components. *E.g.*, CP0463-64 (Fire Chief Dep. at 41:22-42:2) ("Q. Has any of this

_

⁶ On May 16, 2017, the City Council set aside efforts to co-locate on the site with Rite Aid. *See* CP0630.

⁷ The City's attorney repeatedly misrepresented what the City Council's intentions were regarding the Rite Aid Property. See, e.g., VRP at 17 (Court: [] But is the entire parcel going to be focused on fire training, fire department, and the rest? [City's Counsel] Yes."); VRP at 23-24 ("The Court: Has your client been consistent about whether a hundred percent of this parcel is needed for fire-related purposes? [City's Counsel]: Absolutely."); VRP at 26 ([City's Counsel]:[] Your Honor, you asked about is it clear that the council is going to use the entire property for the fire [station]. It is."). However, the City's attorney's representations were rebutted by the evidence. See CP0474 (City Man. Dep. 65:6-10) ("Q. And is that because you really haven't made a decision yet as to what this additional public use is going to be yet? A. Right. We'll present final options to the Council once the site is acquired."); CP0475 (109:18-22) ("Q. Well, because no one has really made a decision yet, right? A. The Council has not made a final decision as to what to do with the site, other than to acquire it."). Moreover, the City Council later proved the City's attorney's representations were false. On June 13, 2017, the City Council considered the possibility of a park maintenance facility being placed on the Rite Property. See http://www.kirklandwa.gov/depart/council/Meetings/Agendas /specmtgagnd061317.htm (Item 7).

[community center or training center] been approved ...by the City Council? A. No. Q. Funding for any of these sort of programs? A. No., it's just been presented to them.").

C. Goodwill Has an Interest in the Rite Aid Property

The lot on which the Rite Aid store sits and the adjoining lot where Goodwill Industries has its store (the "Goodwill Property") are parts of a unified shopping center (the "Shopping Center") under the common ownership of Wal Properties, LLC ("Wal"). *See* CP0536-39. Albertson's has a long-term lease for the entire Shopping Center. *See* CP0246-310. Rite Aid subleases part of the Shopping Center. *See* CP0312-95. This sub-lease reserves rights to Albertson's for itself and other subtenants of other portions of the shopping center:

The leasing of [the Rite Aid Property] is <u>subject</u>, however, to the right of [Albertson's] and other tenants of [Albertson's] and their respective invitees, customers and employees to use in common with [Rite Aid] and its invitees, customers and employees of the <u>portions of the [Rite Aid Property]</u> not now or hereafter occupied by buildings for purposes of parking motor vehicles, loading and unloading, ingress and egress to buildings located in the Shopping Center and pedestrian walkways and sidewalks. (emphasis added).

CP0312 (¶1). The sublease also grants Rite Aid rights to use the common areas of other portions of the Shopping Center, including the parking lot on the Goodwill Property. *See id*.

Goodwill also has a sublease with Albertson's. *See* CP0397-433. Under its sublease, Goodwill also has the right to use the common areas, including the parking lot and access points of the entire Shopping Center. *See* CP0400 (¶¶ 1.7-1.8). Under their respective subleases Rite Aid and Goodwill are required to pay common area expenses of the entire shopping center based on the respective relative square footage of building space. *See* CP0314-16 (¶6); CP0407-09 (¶8.2). The City's taking will have a direct effect on the common areas to which Goodwill will have access and will also affect Goodwill's rent.⁸

Goodwill has an interest in the Rite Aid Property created by both its own sublease and reserved by the Rite Aid sublease. Goodwill repeatedly informed the City of its use of the Rite Aid Property. *See* CP0574-76 (Goodwill informing the City of its use of the Rite Aid Property); CP0450-51 (Dep. City Man. Dep. at 33:23-34:20) (the City recognizes that Goodwill uses the Rite Aid Property); *id.* (44:7-23) (Goodwill informed the City it had a property interest in the Rite Aid Property). The City recognizes that Goodwill has a property interest at stake in this matter. *See* CP0583 ("Prioritize the understanding of the lease rights. Goodwill has access on property. How will court handle.").

-

⁸ The interdependence of the Shopping Center is also demonstrated by the Second Amendment to the Rite Aid/Albertson's lease which provides for pharmacy and grocery supermarket exclusives on each parcel. *See* CP0435-38; *see also* CP0642-44 (Albertson's treating the two properties as one "shopping center").

And the City understands that Goodwill's rights relating to the Rite Aid Property affect the valuation of the taking. *See* CP0538. But, the City elected not to include Goodwill in its petition.⁹

V. ARGUMENT

A. Courts Cannot Fulfill Their Constitutional Mandate to Determine if Use is "Really Public" When the City Council Leaves Public Uses Undecided

Washington's constitution requires the Court to police legislative attempts to take property by eminent domain. WASH. CONST. art. I, § 16 provides:

Private property shall not be taken for private use No private property shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just compensation having been first made Whenever an attempt is made to take private property for a use alleged to be public, the question whether the contemplated use be really public shall be a judicial question, and determined as such, without regard to any legislative assertion that the use is public. (emphasis added).

"In order for a proposed condemnation to meet the constitutional requirement of Const. art. I, § 16, the court must find (1) that the use is really public, (2) that the public interests requires it, and (3) that the property appropriated is necessary for the purpose." In re Pet. of Seattle ("Westlake"), 96 Wn.2d 616, 625, 638 P.2d 549 (1981) (emphasis added). The burden of proof is on the City – not on Rite Aid – to demonstrate to

_

⁹ See CP0001-8. Rite Aid repeatedly informed the City of Goodwill's property interest. *E.g.*, CP0647; CP0651; CP0440 (¶2); CP0477-78 (City Man. Dep. at 116:6-118:24).

the Court that the condemnation is for a public use and that it is necessary for the public use stated in the ordinance. *See State ex. rel. Wash. State Convention & Trade Ctr. v. Evans*, 136 Wn.2d 811, 817, 966 P.2d 1252 (1998); *see also Pub. Util. Dist. No. 2 of Grant County v. N. Am. Foreign Trade Zone Indus., LLC*, 159 Wn.2d 555, 566, 151 P.3d 176 (2007).

1. The Take Exceeds What Is Needed for the Stated Public Use

The City has repeatedly admitted that it is taking land in excess of what is necessary for a "fire station." This Court has long explained that it must find that "the extent of the taking [] be no greater than is reasonably necessary for the *stated public purpose*." *Pullman*, 73 Wn.2d at 595 (emphasis added); *State v. Larson*, 54 Wn.2d 86, 89, 338 P.2d 135 (1959) ("no greater estate or interest should be taken than is reasonably necessary to accomplish the public use or necessity."). "[T]aking of excess property is no longer a public use, and a certificate of public use must be denied." *State ex. rel. Tacoma School Dis. No. 10, Pierce County v. Stojack*, 53 Wn.2d 55, 64, 330 P.2d 567 (1958). Other courts agree. 10

-

¹⁰ Indeed, it is universally accepted that courts should not allow land beyond what is necessary for the stated public use to be taken. *See, e.g., Zutt v. State of New York,* 99 A.D.3d 85, 104 (N.Y. App. 2012) ("as a general principle ... there is no right to condemn land in excess of the need for public purposes, and ... no more may be taken than is required for the particular public purpose") (citation and quotations omitted); *Springfield v. Gross,* 840 N.E.2d 1123, 1127 (Ohio App. 2005) ("It follows *a fortiori* that the city is required, not only to define specifically the purpose of the appropriation in its legislation, but it is incumbent upon the city to sustain such requirement by proof of its necessity, since the power granted to a municipality to appropriate excess property in furtherance of a public use is only granted when the excess is reasonably needed for that use."); *County*

The law is clear that when land is more than necessary for the stated purpose, the taking cannot be allowed. Here, the City readily acknowledges that the Rite Aid Property is more than it needs for the stated use of a "fire station." Indeed, all of the evidence shows that the proposed taking is three to four times the size of lot the City needs.

According to the City's logic, courts do not have the authority to evaluate the physical realities of the proposed taking so long as the ordinance states the taking is "necessary" and so long as the City was "thoughtful" in its review for a public use. *See, e.g.*, CP0085 (15:12-16). The City is wrong. Cities are not allowed to take private land beyond what is needed, and what they intend to use, for the *stated* public use. The Court should take this opportunity to make clear that legislative bodies cannot merely use a stated public use as a pretext to bank excess land for needs not yet determined. That is what the City admittedly did here. ¹¹

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