FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/19/2019 10:16 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96901-9

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# RITE AID CORPORATION and THRIFTY PAYLESS, INC.,

Petitioners,

VS.

# THE CITY OF KIRKLAND,

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael R. Kenyon
WSBA No. 15802
Hillary E. Graber
WSBA No. 35784
Kenyon Disend, PLLC
11 Front Street South
Issaquah, Washington 98027-3820
(425) 392-7090
Attorneys for Respondent City of Kirkland

# **

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

Rite Aid offers no proof—none—of fraud by the City Council is selecting the Rite Aid Property.

In reaching its considered decision, the City conducted an extensive site selection process over many years in order to determine the location for the Fire Station Project. City Staff investigated and analyzed over 20 potential sites and presented these analyses at many City Council and other public meetings. CP 89–99. In making its ultimate selection, the City Council properly considered the undisputed need to serve its

rapidly growing population and to protect its rapidly growing inventory of housing and commercial buildings.<sup>5</sup> CP 91–92; City of Bellevue v. Best Buy Stores, LP, 180 Wn. App. 1034, 2014 WL 1600924, at \*5 (2014),<sup>6</sup> citing Welcker at 685-86. The City Council's decision reflects sound public policy and legislative prerogative, not actual or constructive fraud.

Rite Aid suggests that the City has not yet decided what it will do with the Rite Aid Property. Petition for Review at 6. But the City Council, in the Ordinance, expressly decided that the Fire Station Project would be built on the Rite Aid Property. The City Council considered other sites, and rejected those. CP 90, 92–97, 630, and 745–48. The City Council considered co-locating with Rite Aid on the Rite Aid Property, and similarly rejected that. CP 630 and 745–48. The City Council decided to condemn the entire site, and it will be put to a public use. Id. 7

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The City has experienced an unprecedented surge in population growth and associated development activity. Due to the annexation and other growth throughout Kirkland, its population increased by 73% between 2010 and 2016, from 48,787 residents to 84,680 residents. CP 91–92 and 107–08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The City offers this cite as non-binding but wholly persuasive authority pursuant to GR 14.1(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See also CP 474 (TR at 63:18–19, "to condemn the whole parcel, we had to have public use of the whole parcel;" TR at 64:7–10, "Q. So, did you in fact tell the Council that if we condemn the whole parcel we've got to come up with more public use? A. Yes;" TR at 65:12–17, "Q. So you'll decide what the public use is after you've completed the condemnation? A. Right. We know we have more than enough public uses for the site, but . . . the final preferred use of all of the site would be a final decision made by the Council."); CP 454, p. 60, ln. 12–20 (As stated in the deposition of the Deputy City Manager, Marilynne Beard: "[T]he one potential that was discussed was we can put a maintenance - - can we put some of our maintenance functions in the back, because we need extra space, and the determination was that it wasn't appropriate for that but it would be appropriate for a training - - a training - - fire training facility, which, to my knowledge, is the only other public use that we've talked about.").

The City Council did, of course, consider one private use on the property—co-location of the Fire Station Project and a Rite Aid store, as specifically requested by Rite Aid (CP 746). Responding in good faith to Rite Aid's specific proposal certainly cannot constitute the impermissible pretext necessary to demonstrate constructive fraud. State ex rel. Wash. State Convention & Trade Ctr. v. Evans, 136 Wn.2d 811, 823, 966 P.2d 1252 (1998); Best Buy Stores, LP, 180 Wn. App. 1034, 2014 WL 1600924, at \*5.

In <u>Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller</u> ("<u>Sound Transit</u>"), this Court considered the contention that "a nearby site would be better suited for the project and that condemnation is not necessary." 156 Wn.2d 403, 421, 128 P.3d 588 (2006). The Court concluded:

But a particular condemnation is necessary as long as it appropriately facilitates a public use. Put another way, when there is a reasonable connection between the public use and the actual property, this element is satisfied. It need not be the best or only way to accomplish a public goal. This court has explicitly held already that the "mere showing" that another location is just as reasonable does not make the selection arbitrary and capricious.

... We have already ruled that site selection is essentially a legislative question, not a judicial one. ...

Id. at 421–22.

Even if there was "excess land" taken here, Rite Aid cites to no authority requiring that public use for any claimed excess land must be legislatively determined prior to condemnation and cannot be altered or amended after the condemnation has occurred. The applicable authority, of course, is to the contrary. A city may permissibly take property for one public use and then change that public use at a later time. See Seattle Monorail, 155 Wn.2d at 634; Reichling v. Covington Lumber Co., 57 Wash. 225, 228, 106 P. 777 (1910) (quoting Seattle Land & Improv. Co. v. City of Seattle, 37 Wash. 274, 277, 79 P. 780 (1905)).

## 3. The City is not taking "excess" property.

Particular to this Petition, this Court long ago confirmed that the taking of private property for a fire station and related fire training facilities, sufficient in size for both current needs and reasonably anticipated future needs, constitutes a public use. State ex rel. Hunter et ux. v. Superior Court for Snohomish County, 34 Wn.2d 214, 208 P.2d 866 (1949) (finding that fire district was authorized under eminent domain statutes to acquire land for fire station building and related training spaces). "The statutes do not limit the amount of property that may be acquired by eminent domain, and therefore reasonable necessity, considering present as well as probable future needs, was the standard by which the commissioners were guided." Id. at 216.

As this Court more recently explained in **Sound Transit**:

[w]hen it comes to such discretionary details as the particular land chosen, the amount of land needed, or the kinds of legal interests in the land that are necessary for the project, many Washington decisions have said that the condemnor's judgment on these matters will be overturned only if there is "proof of actual fraud or such arbitrary and capricious conduct as would amount to constructive fraud."

Sound Transit, 156 Wn.2d at 412 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added); see also Seattle Monorail, 155 Wn.2d at 633.

The City Manager openly testified that the City Council <u>could have</u> chosen a smaller site and could have decided to build a smaller facility. After years of consideration of many potential sites of various sizes, however, the City Council chose instead to place the Fire Station Project on the full Rite Aid Property. CP 92 and 98–99. The City Council had many good reasons for doing so. CP 98–99 and 745.

There is no "excess" land at issue here. Even if there was "excess" land, however, the City Council's decision would still stand. "Even if the decision was partially motivated by improper considerations, it will not be vacated so long as 'the proposed condemnation demonstrates a genuine need and . . . the condemnor in fact intends to use the property for the avowed purpose." <u>Sound Transit</u>, 156 Wn.2d at 418 (alteration in

original).

Rite Aid's continued argument that the City and Rite Aid could colocate on the Rite Aid Property under a "shared use" model<sup>8</sup> is similarly flawed. In mistakenly arguing that a city may only take property that is absolutely or immediately necessary, Rite Aid relies entirely on cases decided in other states. Even the older Washington cases on which Rite Aid purports to rely support the City's position, and this Court removed any remaining doubt in Welcker, Sound Transit and Seattle Monorail.

# 4. No evidentiary hearing was necessary or required.

Rite Aid expressly declined the trial court's invitation to conduct an evidentiary hearing. The Court of Appeals accordingly found no error for failure to conduct an evidentiary hearing. Rite Aid cites to no appellate decision in conflict with its own knowing decision to waive an evidentiary hearing.

In fact, the Court of Appeals' decision here is completely consistent with other appellate decisions. A trial court has full discretion in determining the manner in which to conduct a motion to adjudicate public use and necessity. Feldstein, 129 Wn. App. at 76; see also Best

<sup>8</sup> See fn. 3, supra.

-

 $<sup>^9</sup>$  "THE COURT: . . . for this particular hearing is any party requesting to produce live testimony? MR. KENYON: The City is not, Your Honor. MR. MILLER: No, not at this hearing." RP at 7, ln. 23 - 8, ln. 1.

# Buy Stores, LP, 2014 WL 1600924, at \*8.

The decision to deny an evidentiary hearing is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>Feldstein</u>, 129 Wn. App. at 77. Under RAP 2.5(a), an "appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a); <u>Sourakli v. Kyriakos, Inc.</u>, 144 Wn. App. 501, 509, 182 P.3d 985 (2008), *review denied*, 165 Wn.2d 1017, 199 P.3d 411 (2009). Rite Aid fails to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

In Rite Aid's Opposition to the City's Motion for Public Use and Necessity, Rite Aid suggested, without providing authority, that the decision on public use and necessity should be "guided by CR 56." CP 225. Even if that was the applicable standard—and it is not—Rite Aid could have, but did not, bring a CR 56 motion.

There are simply no relevant, and certainly no material, factual disputes at issue. The parties submitted declarations containing transcript testimony, sworn statements from City Staff, and hundreds of pages of exhibits. CP 440.<sup>10</sup> The trial court was plainly well within its discretion in declining to hold an evidentiary hearing.

In Feldstein, Division One similarly found that the "court had a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In <u>Feldstein</u>, Division One similarly found that the "court had all of the information necessary, including briefs, deposition transcripts, and affidavits, to make an informed decision on whether the City's proposed boardwalk constituted a public use and whether condemning Feldstein's property was necessary for that use." 129 Wn. App. at 77.

# 5. Goodwill is not an indispensable party.

Conclusion of Law 7 in the Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Adjudicating Public Use and Necessity declares that Goodwill Industries is not an indispensable party because the Goodwill site is <u>adjacent</u> to the Rite Aid Property and the City in its petition in eminent domain did not seek to condemn that adjacent parcel.

Even if Goodwill as a lessee of an adjacent property somehow did have leasehold or other property rights in the Rite Aid Property, the applicable authority is again consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision. "An action against property being taken in condemnation, subject to an existing lease, may be maintained under RCW 8.12.060 without joining the holder of the leasehold interest." City of Pullman v. Glover, 73 Wn.2d 592, 594–95, 439 P.2d 975 (1968). Rite Aid offers no conflicting appellate authority.

Rite Aid argues that Goodwill has a contract right to "use" certain common areas on the Rite Aid Property, and that Goodwill accordingly should have been a named party under RCW 8.12.060. Goodwill has no interest in the Rite Aid Property.<sup>11</sup> The Rite Aid Property and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Rite Aid has no standing to assert Goodwill's claimed rights. Goodwill has not sought to intervene. Rite Aid has no standing to assert the rights of Goodwill because Rite Aid is not in any manner injured by Goodwill's absence. <u>Trepanier v. Everett</u>, 64 Wn. App. 380, 382–383, 824 P.3d 524 (1992). A party without standing cannot assert the rights of other parties or nonparties. <u>Ullery v. Fulleton</u>, 162 Wn. App. 596, 604, 256 P.3d 406 (2011).

Goodwill property are separate and adjacent parcels. The petition in eminent domain at issue here addressed only the Rite Aid Property. CP 1– 8. The sublease between Albertson's Inc. and Rite Aid authorizes Goodwill's "invitees, customers, and employees to use in common" with Rite Aid the portion of the Rite Aid Property not "now or hereafter occupied by buildings" in order to park and access the store. CP 312 (emphasis added). To the extent that Goodwill has any license to use the Rite Aid Property, all of its "invitees, customers, and employees" also have the same rights. To adopt Rite Aid's argument here would require the City to name as necessary parties to the Petition all of Goodwill's invitees, customers, and employees. Goodwill has separate and independent property rights under its sublease with Albertsons. If the City ever needs to acquire Goodwill's *property* rights, it will do so separately by negotiation or condemnation.

Rite Aid relies on <u>Public Utility District No. 1 of Pend Oreille</u>

County v. Inland Power & Light Company, 64 Wn.2d 122, 390 P.2d 690 (1964). As noted by the Court of Appeals, in <u>Inland Power</u>, the United States <u>was</u> a party to the action but had not consented to be sued. The petition was dismissed on that basis—not because the county had failed to join an indispensable party. <u>Id.</u> at 126–27. While the Court in <u>Inland Power</u> noted in dicta that the United States would have been a necessary

party in that case,<sup>12</sup> the same Court four years later in <u>Glover</u> had little trouble finding that "<u>Inland</u> is readily distinguishable from the case at hand" because the United States' interest in <u>Inland</u> "would have been materially affected" by the condemnation. <u>Glover</u>, 73 Wn.2d at 594. The interest of the United States in <u>Glover</u> was not affected at all and the condemnation proceeding accordingly went forward; similarly, to the extent that Goodwill has any interest in the Rite Aid Property, it will likewise remain unaffected. Any such rights will simply be reserved.

B. No Significant Question of Constitutional Law or Issue of Substantial Public Interest Exists Sufficient to Grant Review (RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4)).

Nowhere in its Petition does Rite Aid expressly argue that this case presents a significant question of law under the state or federal Constitutions, or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest sufficient to grant review. Rite Aid merely restates its earlier arguments without analyzing the review criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Any constitutional issues that arise break fully in favor of the City here. Condemnations by cities are constitutionally and statutorily authorized.<sup>13</sup> Rite Aid argues that the City here is appropriating more property than is necessary, but the uninterrupted line of cases cited herein,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 64 Wn.2d at 125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Washington State Constitution, Art. I, § 16; Chapter 8.12 RCW.

from both this Court and the Court of Appeals, confirm Rite Aid's fundamental misunderstanding of the term "necessary." In the absence of fraud, the City Council's decision is conclusive, even when other suitable sites exist. Reasonable necessity is the standard, not absolute or immediate or indispensable necessity. Welcker, 65 Wn.2d at 683–84.

Rite Aid also fails to identify any substantial public interest in this matter which would warrant review by this Court. Rite Aid's protracted opposition to the City's petition in eminent domain has been wholly unsuccessful because Rite Aid has done nothing more than repeat the same unsuccessful approach that property owners have used in many of the binding appellate precedents cited herein—specifically, that a different or smaller property would also accommodate the proposed public use. The City agrees (CP 471 and 98), but the existence of other suitable sites is irrelevant. In virtually every condemnation case brought by any government agency, suitable alternative sites will exist. Courts grant substantial deference to legislative bodies on site selection, however, because "courts are not trained or equipped to pick the better route, much less design and engineer the project." WR-SRI 120th N., 191 Wn.2d at 246.

While a decision by the Court of Appeals that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as

an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4), such is surely not the case here. <sup>14</sup> The City Council's considered decision to take the Rite Aid Property for the Fire Station Project to serve its rapidly growing residential and commercial populations has no bearing on any other case in this state.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Rite Aid's Petition fails to satisfy any of the criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Rite Aid's Petition should be denied.